P.G. #87A-12 1936
Poplar Hill School

19104 Croom Road, Aquasco, Md.

Priv/Occ/Social/Good

The Poplar Hill School is a small, one-story
gable-roofed frame building, three bays wide, with
entrance into the third bay of the west facade. There
is an exterior brick chimney at the north gable end. At
the time of the Bi-County survey of 1974, this school-
house had already been renovated and re-sided with
aluminum. The windows, 6/6 at that time, have since been
replaced with shorter, wider modern windows, and the siding
has been replaced to accommodate them.

The first school at Poplar Hill was built in 1878, on
land (across Croom Road from the present school) deeded
to the Board of School Commissioners by freedman J. Allen
Hawkins. It was called the Black Swamp School, and as the
second '""colored" school in Aquasco District, it served
the local Black community for nearly sixty years. 1In 1935,
the Board of Education heard a request from the Black
community for a new school, and the present school building
was finished in 1936. This new Poplar Hill School continued
in use until it was closed ir 1952; it was purchased by
Prince George Lodge #1003 of the Benevolent and Protective
Order of Elks. This group has renovated the building
and continues to use it as a social center. It s site,
with that of the original Black Swamp School, is significant
because it has been for more than a century an important
step in the progress of Black education.
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DOE yes _ no

1. Name

{indicate preferred name)

historic

Poplar Hill School

and/or common

2. Location

street & number 19104 Croom Road

(Maryland Route 382)

____ not for publication

Poplar Hill

city, town Aquasco ___ vicinity of / congressional district
state Maryland county D. G.
- - -
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
____ district ____ public X _ occupied ____ agriculture ____ museum
_ X building(s) _3_ private _____ unoccupied ____ commercial ___ park
_ structure — both ___work in progress ___ educational ____ private residence
___ site Public Acquisition Accessible ___ entertainment ___ religious
___ object ____in process ____yes:restricted _____government scientific
____ being considered ____ yes: unrestricted industrial — transportation
not applicable X _no —___ military X other: SOcCial

4. Owner Of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

Pride of Prince George Lodge #1003, BPOE and

name

Loyal Ladies Temple #712

ctreet & number

19104 Croome Road

telephone no.:

city, town Aquasco

state and zip code Md4d.

5. Location of Legal _pescription

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. P. G:”C4. Courthouse 1iber 4421
street & number Main Street folio 415
Upper Marlboro Md.

city, town

state

6. Representation in Existing uistorical Surveys

titie

Prince George's County Inventory of Historic Sites

date 1974 __ federal ___ state _X county ___ local
depository for survey records History Division, M-NCPPC

Riverdale
city, town state Maryland




7. Description Survey No.P.G. 87A-12

Condition Check one Check one

—_ excellent — deteriorated ____ unaltered X__ original site

X good —__ruins X altered —_moved date of move
— fair —__ unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

The Poplar Hill school is a small one-story gable-roofed
frame building. It is three bays wide, with entrance into
the third bay of the west facade. There is a brick chimney
at the north gable end.

At the time of the Bi-county survey of 1974, this
modest schoolhouse had already been renovated, and re-sided
with aluminum. The windows at that time were 6/6 but have
since been replaced by shorter, wider modern windows, and

the siding has been replaced to accommodate them.




8. Significance Survey No. P.G. 87A-12

Period

Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

~— — prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric ___ community planning ____ landscape architecture.___ religion

1400~
1500~
—_1600-
1700~
1800~
— %1900~

1499 ____ archeology-historic ___conservation . —law —___science
1599 ___ agriculture —__ economics —__literature — sculpture
1699 ___ architecture X _ education — military . social/
1799 ___ art ' —___engineering — musle humanitarian
1899 ___ commerce '~ —exploration’settlement ____ philosophy ___theater

—___ communications — industry - politicsigovernment '~ ____ transportation

___invention X other (specify)
Black History

Specific dates 1936 " Builder/Architect

check:

Applicable Criteria: = A B C D
and/or
Applicable Exception: A B c D E F G

Level of Significance: _ national __state _ local

Prepare
support.

both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and

The first school at Poplar Hill, on the road from
Woodville to Magruders Ferry, was built in 1877/1878 on
land which was sold t6 the Board of School Commissioners
by J. Allen Hawkins. Hawkins was a freedman and former
slave of John L. Turner. After Emancipation, he worked as
a farm hand, and by 1868 was able to pay $150 to Dr. Mathias
Latimer for a 5 1/2 acre parcel of Latimer's ""Cole Brook"
plantation. Hawkins worked his new farm with his wife
Charity, and their growing family, and in 1877, had one
acre of his small farm surveyed and laid off for the site
of a school for Black children. In June of 1877, the Board
of School Commissioners ordered that the contract for building
the school was to be advertised, and in August the Board
received Hawkins' deed to the one-acre school lot. The
deed specifically granted the school children use of
Hawkins' spring, and J. Allen Hawkins served for many years
as Trustee of the school. :

The small one-room school which was built there circa
1878 was known as Black Swamp School, from its location near
Black Swamp Creek. This little school house, "Colored"
School #2 in the Aquasco District, served to educate the
local Black children for nearly sixty vyears. In February
of 1935, however, the Board of Education (successor to the
Board of School Commissioners) entertained a request from
the Black community near Poplar Hill for a new school
building. A year later, the Board purchased from Ann R.
Latimer, daughter of Dr. Mathias, another acre of land across
the road (on the south side) from the old Black Swamp School.
The new and larger school was finished within the year, and
came to be known as Poplar Hill School. The old Black Swamp
School was purchased and enlarged into a private residence.

Hill

Even the new Poplar/School was very small, considering
that it was built as late as 1936, and it has not been dis-
covered just why such a small building was erected. (Cf.

the much larger Woodsvilile School #87B-34, built in 1834 at




8 — SIGNIFICANCE (Cont'd) P.G. 87A-12

at the end of the Rosenwald Fund era.) In any case, Poplar
Hill School was closed in 1952, and sold to the Price of
Prince George Lodge #1003 of the Benevolent and Protective
Order of Elks; this group has renovated the building, and
continues to use it as a social center.




9. Major Bibliographical References Survey No. P.G.87A-13

P.G. Co. Deeds:#4421:415; #1527:415; #447:201; #722:129; HB #12:476, 47,

HB #1:517 L :
Journals, Board of School Commissioners Vol I 1865 « 1903

Archives Public Schools, Dept. of Plant Maintenance, Upper Marlboro
Conversations with Mrs. Amy Hawkins and Mrs. Mabel Johnson

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property
Quadrangle name Quadrangle scale

UTM References 4o NOT complete UTM references
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Verbal boundary description and justification

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Susan G. Pearl

organization History Divisi(’)n,. M-NCPPC date May 1983
street & number 4811 Riverdale Road " telephone 779-2011
cityortown Riverdale stateMaryland 20737

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created by
an Act of the Maryland Legislature to be found in the Annotated
Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for .information and
record purposes only and do not constitute any infringement of
individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
Shaw House
21 State Circle
Annapolis, Maryland 21401
(301) 269-2438

PS-2746
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INVENTORY FORM FOR STATE HISTORIC SITES SURVEY

4 NAME

HISTORIC

AND/OR COMMON

Poplar Hill School
E3LOCATION

STREET & NUMBER
Rte. 382, near Power ILines

CITY. TOWN CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT
(Poplar Hill) AgQuasco __ viciNiTy OF
STATE COUNTY
Marvyland Prince George's
% CLASSIFICATION
CATEGORY OWNERSHIP fTATUS PRESENT USE
VDISTRICT T/’uauc MOCCUPIED __AGRICULTURE __MUSEUM
MBUILDING!S) MPRIVATE —_UNOCCUPIED __COMMERCIAL __PARK
__STRUCTURE __BOTH —WORK IN PROGRESS __EDUCATIONAL _‘Zuvms RESIDENCE
__SITE PUBLIC ACQUISITION ACCESS!BLE __ENTERTAINMENT __RELIGIOUS
—OBJECT _INPROCESS —YES: RES,RICTED —_ GOVERNMENT __SCIENTIFIC
__BEING CONSIDERED 7&5 UNRESTRICTED —_INDUSTRIAL —_TRANSPORTATICN
“NO —MILITARY __OTHER

F1IOWNER OF PROPERTY

NAME

William F. Gray, et al? Telephone #:
STREET & NUMBER
CITY. TOWN STATE, Z1p code
- —— VICINITY OF
=4 LOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION Liber #:
COURTHOUSE. Folio #:

REGISTRY OF DEEDSETC  prince George's County Courthouse

STREET & NUMBER

CITY. TOWN STATE
Upper Marlboro Maryland
ﬁ REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS
TITLE ) .
DATE

—FEDERAL _STATE _COUNTY __LOCAL

DEPOSITORY FOR
SURVEY RECORDS

CiTY, TOWN ~ . STATE
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e

&’2a DESCRIPTION

R

CONDITION CHECK ONE : \C)ECK ONE
7£xcsu_zm __DETERIORATED __UNALTERED MORIGINAL SITE z
Neooo —RUINS HALTERED _MOVED  DATE B
__FAIR __UNEXPOSED :

EL v

. DESCR!BE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (iIF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

This building appears to have been a one-room, rural
schoolhouse-that has since been remodeled into a private home.
It has a three-bay main (south) facade, with the doorway in the
east end-bay. The other openings here are two, centrally-placed,
6/6 windows. A newer brick flue sits on the exterior west wall.
Clapboard and aluminum siding, and asphalt-shingle roof.
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CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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SIGNIFICANCE

"PERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW
—PREHISTORIC —ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC —COMMUNITY PLANNING —LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE ——RELIGION
—1400-1499 _ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC —CONSERVATION —LAW —SCIENCE
—1500-1599 _—AGRICULTURE —ECONOMICS —LITERATURE —SCULPTURE
—1600-1699 —ARCHITECTURE —EDUCATION —MILITARY —SOCIAUVHUMANITARIAN
—1700-1799 —ART —ENGINEERING —MUSIC —THEATER
jOO-‘IBSS —COMMERCE —EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT —_PHILOSOPHY . —_TRANSPORTATION

1900- —COMMUNICATIONS —INDUSTRY —_POLITICS/GOVERNMENT —OTHER (SPECIFY)
—INVENTION
SPECIFIC DATES BUILDER/ARCHITECT

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Seems to have been a one-room school early in this century.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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FAMA]JOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
FlIGEOGRAPHICAL DATA

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES

STATE COUNTY

STATE . COUNTY

e e s

E31FORM PREPARED BY

NAME / TITLE P
Michael F. Dwyer, Senior Park Historian 3
ORGANIZATION DATE i
M-NCPPC 6/11/74 ?
STREET & NUMBER TELEPHONE z
8787 Georgia Ave. 589-1480
CITY OR TOWN STATE
Silver Spring Maryland

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created
by an Act of the Maryland Legislature, to be found in the
Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,

1974 Supplement.

The Survey and Inventory are being prepared for information
and record purposes only and do not constitute any infringe-
ment of individual property rights.

RETURN TO: Maryland Historical Trust
The Shaw House, 21 State Circle
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 ;
(301) 267-1438 :
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P. G. #87a-12

Poplar Hill School

Prince George's County, Md.

Susan G. Pearl

April 1983

West elevation

Neg: Md. Hist. Trust, Annapolis, Md.



